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U.S. NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION 
(1o.2011), 
10 CFR 1.201 

NRC FORM 891M PART 1 	 , , 

SAFETY INSPECTION REPORT AND COMPLIANCE INSPECTtON 

1. 	 LICENSEE/lOCATION INSPECTED: 2. NRCIREGIONAL OFFICE 

Thrasher Engineering. Inc. 

30 Columbia Boulevard. U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission 

Clarksburg, WV 26301·1532 Region IJ 2100 Renaissance Blvd, Suite 100 


King of PrussIa, PA 19408-2713 
REPORT NUMaeR; 2012-001 
3. OOCKET NUMBER: /4. LICENSE NUMBER: 15. DATES OF INSF'ECTtON 

031)..20231 47-23065..01 June 7, S'nd June 21, 2012 

LICENSEE: 

ThQ Inspectlon WliIS an examinatlon of the aClivltlee conducted under your license as they relale to radiation safety and Ie oompH:mce With the Nuclear 

Regulatory CommllllSion (NAC) rulu and reguletlOn& and the condltlone of your license. The Inspectlon QC)n&i$ted of sel&eUve 6lf8mlnauons of 

procedurea iilnc1 representative records. IntelViews with perlcnoeJ. and observations l)y the Inspector. The Intpectlon "ndlngs are as follows: 


0 1. Based on lI1e 1"~ee1IQn findings. no Violations were Identified. 

0 2. Previous Vlolallon(s) close<!. 

3. ina violallon(s). spec:lfltllillly described to you by the II1Gpedor as non-cited violations, are nol being cited baoause thllV were sal(-0 Identlited. non-repetlUve, and colTeetiva action was or is being taken. and the remaining criteria In the N~C Enforcement POliO)', to 

e)(are!s& dI!:Ctetlon. were $aUsfiecl. 


Non-dted vloilltlon($) were discussed Involving \he folloWIng re<lulrement(B) and corrective acllon(s): 

[!]. 4. 	During this Inspection, cert.Elln of your activities. as OKcrlbed below and/or atulChI!lCl, \dre In Violation 0' NAC requirements and ere being 
cited In accordance with the NRC Enfon:emenl Policy. This form Is a N01"ICE; OF VIOLATION, whicl\ may bll ~u"Jecllo posting in 
ac:oordance with 10 CFR 19.11. (VIolations and COlT&diVe Actions) 

1. 	 10 CFR 20.1101 requires. in part, that eac,", licensee periodically {at least annually) perform a review of the 
radlatkm protection program content and Implementation. 

ContralY to the above, between March 1St 2009, and June 7, 2012, Thrasher Engineering, Inc. did nol 
perform a review 0' the radiation protection program content and Implementation annually. Speclfir::.ally, the 
lIeen.era conducted a review In March 2009, and cSld not conduct a review for the period between March . 
2009 and June 2012, a period of time whiCh is greater than annually. 

(conttnued on pagEl 2) 

Statement of Corrective Actions 
I hereby slate Ihat, ~Ihln 30 days, the ae~Ql\$ dGserlbed by me to the Inspecter will be taken 10 correct the Violations ldentUled. This slatamant of 

correet\vG actions Is mada In accordance wltI't tho!! raqulreml!ll1ls of 10 CfR 2.201 (correetlv!! steps already taken, correcllve steps wtllc;h will M taken. 

datfl when full campHanee WIll be sd1ievecl). I understand that no further written I'asponse \0 NRC will be required, unless specifically requasled. 


TItle 	 Printed Narne Sign.... .... Date 

LICENSE;E'S RI;PRESENTATIVE A-'~""~ ,41, ,KfPtcU __~/~~-Zl-/Z-
"RC 1"SPECTQR Scott Wilson <~£l1J.~ 	 6/21/2012

./ (!Jp..,vw~ 
I' 

BRANC" CHIEF i Blake Welling ItLliL I ,'fUR?. 
'"NRC FORM 591M PART 1 (10.2011) (RI Rev. 0210912012) G;\ONMSIWordOocsICurrent\lnsp Record\R47-23065-01 .2012'(){)1.591 M-f'art1.dOc 

SUNSI Review Completed By; IRAt SWllson 	 [;] Public Non-Sensitive0 
Thb docament bn:orna 11ft !"iRe om¢lal Alenc:y Rre.ord OIlCO It is .Igtlcd by tile Brancb Chie( 



NRC FORM 591M PART 2 	 U.S. NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION 
(10-2011) , 
1D CFRZ.2Q1 

SAFETY INSPECTION REPORT AND COMPLIANCE INSPECTION 
1. LlCENSeEILOCATION INSPECTED; 	 2,. NRC/REGIONAL OFFICE 

Thrasher Engineering, Inc. 
30 Columbia Boulevard, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission 
Clarksburg, WV 26301-1532 Region', 2100 Renaissance Blvd, Suite 100 

King of Prussia, Pennsylvania 19406·2713 

REPORT NUMBER 

3. DOCKET NUMBER: -4. LICENse NUMBeR: 5. DATES OF INSPECTION 

030·20231 47·23065~01 June 7. and June 21,2012, 

(Continued) 

The licensee agreed to implement corrective ena preventative actions within 30 days. The corrective actions 
Include the performance of a review of the radiation protac6on program content and Implementation, The 
preventative action includes Implementation of an autmnated reminder systltM to notify the RSO YAlen radlallon 
protection program reviews are due in the future. 

2. 	 NRC License 47-23065-01, License Condition 1e. tequirt$, in part, ttleUhe licensee 1& authorized to transport 
licensed material In accordance wtth the provisions of 10 CFR Part 71, "Packaging and Transportation of 
Radioactive Material." 

10 CFR Part 71 requires, in part. that each liceMee ~ho transports licensed meterlel outside the site of usage, 
as speeifl~d in the NRC lIeense shall comply with the applicable requirements oftne OOT regulations in 49 CFR 
parts 111 through 180 appropriate to the mode of transport. 

49 CFR 174 requires, in pert, that a I'lB:zmet employee must receive training at least onC6li1very three years. 

Contrary to the above. from May 2007.10 June 2012, Thrasher Engineering, Inc. did not provide hazmat 
employee refresher training to its ha2mat employees. Specifically. the licensee had not provIded hazmat 
training since May of 20'07, and the rtcensee transported liceoaed material outside the site of usege as specirled 
In the NRC license. a violation of License Condition 18. 

The Ilcllflsee stated that the requirement was not fully understood by the RSO. The licensee agreed to 
Implementa1lon of corrective and preventative actions within 30 days. The corrective actions Inctude refresher 
tralFllng for aU hazmat employees, The preventative eetlOI') Includes Implementation of an automatea reminder 
system to notify the RSO wMn nazmat &mployae refresher training is due in the fUbJra. 

NRC FORM 59''''' PART 2 (10·2011) G.ION MS\WOrdDoca\Currant\lnap Rec:ord\R47-230SS-Q1.2012·001.S91 lio1·fOsn1.doc 


